Supreme Court No. <u>14443</u> (COA No. 73008-8-I, consol. with 73090-8-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ISAAC ZAMORA,

FILED
May 01, 2017
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SKAGIT COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

NANCY P. COLLINS Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Isaac Zamora, petitioner here and appellant/cross-respondent below, seeks review of the published Court of Appeals decision dated March 6, 2017, for which reconsideration was denied on March 31, 2017, copies of which are attached as Appendix A.

B. INTRODUCTION

Based on the undisputed severity of Isaac Zamora's mental illness and the seriousness of the crimes he committed, Mr. Zamora and the State entered an explicit plea agreement. They agreed he was not guilty by reason of insanity for two charges and would plead guilty to the remaining charges. He would be immediately sent to a mental hospital until found releaseable by a court under the controlling civil commitment statute and case law. Once a court found he met the criteria for release under the cited civil commitment law, he would be transferred to prison to serve sentences imposed for his offenses.

But after entering this agreement, the State immediately lobbied for and obtained legislative changes to the statutes governing the confinement of a person who is not guilty by reason of insanity. By changing the law, it won authority to immediately end Mr. Zamora's mental health commitment and permanently transfer him to prison

despite the severity of his mental illness and contrary to the terms of the plea agreement. The Court of Appeals summarily rejected Mr.

Zamora's challenges to the legality of upending the clear, mutually agreed premise of the plea agreement and the retroactive application of these recent and vaguely defined laws to Mr. Zamora.

C. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

- 1. When a person waives his trial rights under a plea agreement, the agreement is construed in the light most favorable to the accused person and governed by due process and contractual law. Mr. Zamora's plea agreement stated he would be sent to a mental hospital until no longer dangerous due to mental illness, citing controlling law. Because the State did not want Mr. Zamora to reside in a mental hospital, it convinced the legislature to change these civil commitment laws. Does it violate due process, contract law, and constitute a breach of the plea agreement for the State to alter the law governing the agreed terms of a plea for the purpose of undermining the plea's framework?
- 2. Does substantial public interest favor review when public policy relies on plea agreements as an efficient and fair mechanism for resolving criminal charges but the published Court of Appeals decision

endorses post-plea changes to the governing law that fundamentally alter the expected punishment resulting from the negotiated settlement?

- 3. Statutory amendments are presumed to apply prospectively. After Mr. Zamora was sentenced, the legislature substantially lowered the legal threshold for releasing a person from a mental hospital to serve a sentence in prison. The Court of Appeals sidestepped retroactivity by declaring the triggering event was when the State used its new authority to file a second petition to transfer Mr. Zamora to prison. When the State uses a change in the law to substantively alter the legal framework central to the operation of a plea, is this statutory change being retroactively applied? Does it constitute an ex post facto alteration of the legal consequences of completed acts?
- 4. The trial court found the statutory changes enacted after Mr. Zamora's plea were written expressly for Mr. Zamora, because the State wanted to undermine the agreement that placed him in a mental health hospital. Does the change in the law increasing the time Mr. Zamora will spend in prison constitute a bill of attainder, prohibited by article I, section 9 of the United States Constitution and article I, section 23 of the state constitution?

5. A law prescribing punishment violates due process if it lacks standards and invites arbitrary enforcement. RCW 10.77.200(3) directs a court to send a person to prison even though not guilty by reason of insanity to prison if "manageable" and also sentenced for a class A felony. The Court of Appeals broadly and circularly construed "manageable" as "capable of being managed: submitting to control." Yet a prison must "manage" all sentenced individuals and may control them by punishment and isolation. Is resting a prison transfer on the prison's capability of managing or controlling a person so vague that it invites arbitrary enforcement, lacks standards, is incapable of judicial review, and creates an untenable risk of impermissibly punitive treatment?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2008, Mr. Zamora's mental health spiraled out of control.

Overcome by delusions and hallucinations that he was commanded by

God to kill demons, Mr. Zamora killed six people and injured four

others. 11/17/09RP 18-19; 9/9/14RP 155-57.

The State charged him with numerous crimes, including six counts of aggravated first degree murder. CP 374-84. In a plea agreement, the parties jointly agreed Mr. Zamora was not guilty by

reason of insanity for two counts of aggravated first degree murder and guilty of the remaining counts. 11/17/09RP 26-27; CP 136-37.

The plea agreement explained it is "understood by the parties" that Mr. Zamora "will be sent to Western State Hospital" until "eligible for conditional release" and under the legal authority of "State v. Sommerville, 111 Wash. 2d 524 (1988) and RCW 10.77.120." CP 380. If he met the criteria for release under this legal framework, he would be transferred to DOC to serve the sentence imposed for the convictions. *Id*.

Mr. Zamora "relied upon" his attorney's explanation of the law when entering this plea agreement. CP 269. He "would not have accepted the plea bargain if [he] had known that the law would be changed" to alter these terms. CP 269.

The court found Mr. Zamora was "legally insane" and not responsible for two counts of aggravated murder. 11/17/09RP 27. It ordered he be sent to the state's mental hospital. *Id.* at 27-28.

Western State Hospital's administrators immediately sought his transfer to prison. In one email, a Department of Social and Health Services (DSHS) official wrote, "the Isaac Zamora situation continues to bother me [a lot]. Something needs to be done to expedite correct

placement in a secure prison." CP 118 (brackets in original). This email is dated December 14, 2009, 14 days after Mr. Zamora was sentenced. CP 118, 120.

At the time Mr. Zamora pled guilty, the governing statutes let a confined person seek release from the court, but did not give this authority to the State. CP 246-47, 268-69. One email shows Western State Hospital asked for the legislation to "assist DSHS/WSH with management of the 'Zamora' case/precedence," including obtaining "WSH ability to petition for CR [conditional release]." CP 119; *see also* CP 117 (email lamenting DSHS's inability to seek Mr. Zamora's release and prison transfer).

At the State's request, the law was changed in 2010 to allow the State to ask the court to release a person. It promptly petitioned the court to release Mr. Zamora from Western State Hospital and send him to prison. 6/25/12RP 39-40; CP 268-69. But the court rejected the State's petition after a lengthy hearing. CP 134-35

The court ruled "Mr. Zamora has not met any of the seven Hospital criteria for discharge from the Hospital." CP 134. He remains "currently" mentally ill, "a substantial danger to himself and others,"

and "continues to require hospital level care," for recurring threatening and violent behavior that stem from his mental illness. CP 134.

The court also rejected the State's argument that Mr. Zamora should be released "merely because he can be placed at the Department of Corrections," where he is not a danger to the public. CP 135. The court chastised Western State Hospital for being "unethical, inconsistent, and unprofessional in this particular case" based on its efforts to push Mr. Zamora out of the hospital rather than offer him treatment. 3/7/14RP 18.

In 2014, the State filed another petition for release. A new law let the State transfer a criminally insane person to prison if also serving a prison term for a class A felony. CP 30-33. This law only asked the State to show the person could be managed in prison even if substantially dangerous to himself or others. RCW 10.77.200(3). After a multi-day hearing, the court deemed Mr. Zamora manageable in prison but imposed conditions requiring psychiatric approval to transfer him to the general prison population. 9/10/14RP 88; CP 9. The Department of Corrections (DOC) appealed these conditions. The Court of Appeals ruled the trial court lacked authority to place any conditions on DOC's treatment of a prisoner in its custody. Slip op. at 25-26.

The facts are detailed in the Court of Appeals opinion, pages 1-16, Appellant's Opening Brief, pages 6-10, and throughout the relevant argument sections of Appellant's Opening and Reply Briefs. These facts are incorporated by reference herein.

E. ARGUMENT

1. The State's efforts to undermine a plea agreement and alter controlling decisional law from this Court requires review.

A plea agreement is a contract and also a waiver of bedrock constitutional protections for people accused of crimes. *Santobello v. New York*, 404 U.S. 257, 262, 92 S. Ct. 495, 30 L. Ed. 2d 427 (1971); U.S. Const. amend. 14; Const. art. I, § 3. Because the accused person forgoes the most essential constitutional protections when entering a plea agreement, its terms are strictly construed to favor the accused person. *State v. Bisson*, 156 Wn.2d 507, 523, 130 P.3d 820 (2006).

a. The State should not be permitted to alter settled terms of a mutually agreed legal framework under a plea agreement based on law governing treatment for a person found not guilty by reason of insanity.

Mr. Zamora pled guilty and not guilty by reason of insanity pursuant to a negotiated agreement, forgoing his right to trial and the potential that he would be found not guilty by reason of insanity for all

charges. The plea agreement explains the controlling framework governing its operation. CP 380.

The agreement cites RCW 10.77.120, and *State v. Sommerville*, 111 Wn.2d 524, 760 P.2d 932 (1988). CP 380. Pursuant to this cited legal authority, Mr. Zamora would be first placed in DSHS's custody civil confinement because he was criminally insane and he would be released from DSHS's custody to serve the sentences imposed only upon a court's finding that he was eligible for release. CP 375, 380; *see Sommerville*, 111 Wn.2d at 535-36 (explaining statutory scheme mandates that person found not guilty by reason of insanity must receive needed psychiatric care before being placed in prison and "must be remanded to the custody of DSHS until final discharge under RCW 10.77.200").

Mr. Zamora entered this plea agreement based on his lawyer's unequivocal advice that the State was required to place him in DSHS's custody until "eligible" for final discharge, and at that time he could be sent to prison. CP 247, 380. The sentencing memorandum similarly explained that based on the agreement,

the Court is required to commit Mr. Zamora to a mental hospital operated by DSHS until such time, if any, the Court determines at a hearing that he is no longer a

substantial danger to other persons or that he no longer presents a substantial likelihood of committing felonious acts jeopardizing public safety or security. Mr. Zamora may only be released to the custody of the Department of Corrections by order of the Court following such a hearing.

CP 375. Mr. Zamora's attorney explained that his objective, and his understanding of his client's objective, was to ensure Mr. Zamora remained "at a state mental hospital for the rest of his life." CP 247. The State voiced the same understanding at the time of the plea. 6/28/12RP 175.

Mr. Zamora's attorney also told him to initiate final discharge from the DSHS psychiatric hospital, he would have to petition for release and prove he no longer presents a substantial danger to others due to a mental illness under RCW 10.77.200 (2009). CP 247. He relied on this understanding of the law when deciding to enter the plea agreement. CP 268-69.

b. The State is bound by the terms of the plea agreement.

Mr. Zamora's 2009 plea agreement set forth the legal framework governing the plea, citing a controlling statute and case law applying the statutory scheme mandating Mr. Zamora's hospitalization and treatment until final discharge. CP 380. But changes in the law enacted

solely to alter the terms of Mr. Zamora's plea agreement enabled the State to transfer Mr. Zamora to DOC's custody and to place him in prison despite his significant psychiatric needs.

The substantive statutory changes enacted after Mr. Zamora's plea prompted the court to extoll the State's "amazing clout" with the Legislature. 9/8/14RP 7. RCW 10.77.200 was amended in 2010 to allow the State to petition for a person's discharge, and in 2013 to allow this final discharge to occur if the committed person would be sent to prison and is "manageable" within prison, without regard to his psychiatric needs. RCW 10.77.200(3) (2013); see *Laws* 2010, ch. 263, § 8 (S.B. 6610); *Laws* 2013, ch. 289, § 7 (S.S.H.B. 1114).

Another new temporary transfer provision let DSHS send a person found criminally insane to state prison if it finds the person "presents an unreasonable safety risk which, based on behavior, clinical history, and facility security is not manageable in a state hospital setting." RCW 10.77.091(1) (enacted in 2010 and amended in 2015). Invoking this new law, the State transferred Mr. Zamora from Western State Hospital to DOC in December 2012. CP 8, 31.

The statutory changes enacted after Mr. Zamora's guilty plea gave the State authority to disregard the legal framework governing the plea agreement. These changes were enacted for the specific purpose of getting Mr. Zamora into prison as soon as possible. 9/8/14RP 7; 9/10/14RP 81. The court ruled the State was "jam[ming] legislation one after another in order to deal with the issue of Mr. Zamora" because DSHS "doesn't want anything to do with Mr. Zamora." 9/8/14RP 7.

The State cannot induce a plea, then "render the plea agreement meaningless" by changing the statutory scheme. *State v. MacDonald*, 183 Wn.2d 1, 15, 346 P.3d 748 (2015). When a plea agreement rests "in any significant degree on a promise or agreement of the prosecution, such a promise must be fulfilled." *Santobello*, 404 U.S. at 262.

Mr. Zamora's plea agreement explicitly referred to the legal framework requiring Mr. Zamora be sent to DSHS for treatment and only eligible for discharge to DOC by statute and case law. CP 380. This legal framework was the basis of the plea negotiation, as the judge acknowledged and Mr. Zamora explained without dispute from the State. 6/28/12RP 173; CP 246-48.

The Court of Appeals cast aside this blatant effort to undermine the legal framework cited in Mr. Zamora's plea agreement by claiming he was not guaranteed to stay in a mental health facility for any particular length of time. Slip op. at 19. But he was guaranteed a specific legal framework. CP 380. This Court explained the controlling statutory scheme in *Sommerville*, 111 Wn.2d at 535-36, and the plea agreement cites *Sommerville* as the basis of the parties' agreement. The State's subsequent efforts to subvert the terms of Mr. Zamora's plea and send him to prison before providing the mental health care he needed undermines the agreement and violates due process. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *Sommerville*, involves a significant question of the due process rights of a person entering a plea agreement, and raises an issue of substantial public interest meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), (4).

- 2. Changes in the law enacted in response to the State's dislike of Mr. Zamora's plea agreement are inapplicable or he must be permitted the opportunity to withdraw his plea because they fundamentally alter the plea's framework and its essential, agreed-upon terms.
 - a. A change in the law that increases the punitive nature of a sentence may not be applied retroactively.

It is a "deeply rooted" rule of statutory construction that "all statutes are to be construed as having only a prospective operation, and not as operating retrospectively." *In re Cascade Fixture Co.*, 8 Wn.2d 263, 271-72, 111 P.2d 991 (1941), quoting 59 C.J. 1159 § 692; *State v. Smith*, 144 Wn.2d 665, 672, 30 P.3d 1245 (2001) (superceded by

statute) (internal citations omitted). The "antiretroactivity principle" stems from "[e]lementary considerations of fairness." *Landgraf v. USI Film Products*, 511 U.S. 244, 265-66, 114 S. Ct. 1483, 128 L. Ed. 2d 229 (1994).

The trial court found DSHS "didn't want any part of" Mr.

Zamora's care and engaged in "blatant attempts" to change the law governing his plea. 9/10/14RP 81. The legislature did not direct its amendment to RCW 10.77.200 be retroactive; it is a substantive change that is not purely curative or remedial; and it alters a prior construction of the law by this Court in *Sommerville*, 111 Wn.2d at 535-36.

Accordingly, it may not be retroactively applied. Mr. Zamora may not be permanently transferred to prison without being releasable from civil commitment under the law that governed his plea agreement.

The Court of Appeals dismissed this retroactivity problem by claiming the operative event was not the plea agreement and sentence, but the State's 2014 petition to transfer Mr. Zamora after the 2013 change in the law. Slip op. at 21-22. But it is illogical and unreasonable to deem the triggering event is simply the State's use of a change in the law that gives it State new authority. Mr. Zamora was not transferred to prison because of later misbehavior or because his subsequent acts

rendered him releaseable. Rather, he was sent to prison because the State lobbied for and obtained diluted legal thresholds that altered this Court's explanation of the controlling statutory scheme. *Sommerville*, 111 Wn.2d at 535-36. In 2010, the court rejected the State's petition to transfer Mr. Zamora under the pre-existing heightened legal threshold. It is only by diluting and altering the legal standard governing release and transfer to prison that the State was able to win Mr. Zamora's prison transfer.

It is not constitutionally permissible to apply this change in the law to Mr. Zamora when his guilty plea was predicated on a clearly stated legal framework that his release to prison would only occur under a settled scheme. The change in the law increased the punitive effect of Mr. Zamora's plea agreement by requiring him to go to prison rather than receive psychiatric care, a situation this Court deemed illegal and against public policy in *Sommerville*, 111 Wn.2d at 535-56.

b. A punitive change in criminal law punishments violates ex post facto.

A law violates the ex post facto prohibition if it changes the legal consequences of acts completed before its effective date. *State v. Edwards*, 104 Wn.2d 63, 71, 701 P.2d 508 (1985). The ex post facto

prohibition also ensures fair warning of the effect of legislative changes. *Weaver v. Graham*, 450 U.S. 24, 28-30, 101 S. Ct. 960, 67 L. Ed. 2d 17 (1981).

The court's finding that Mr. Zamora was not guilty by reason of insanity required commitment in a state mental hospital and prohibited his transfer to prison, as the parties agreed. *Sommerville*, 111 Wn.2d at 535-36; RCW 10.77.110, .150, .200, .220. The "state of the law" changed after Mr. Zamora's offense and in response to the court's order of disposition, for the purpose of altering the terms of his sentence. It violates ex post facto prohibitions to impose more severe punishment than was permissible when the crime was committed and undermines the settled expectations governing the plea agreement.

c. Enacting a law for the blatant purpose of sending Mr. Zamora to prison term constitutes a bill of attainder.

The state and federal constitutions prohibit any "bill of attainder," which bars "legislative punishment, of any form or severity, of specifically designated persons or groups." *United States v. Brown*, 381 U.S. 437, 447, 85 S. Ct. 1707, 14 L. Ed. 2d 484 (1965); *State v. Thorne*, 129 Wn.2d 736, 759, 921 P.2d 514 (1996); U.S. Const. art. I, § 10; Art. I, § 23.

A legislative enactment is a bill of attainder if it singles out a certain person or group and imposes punishment for past conduct.

Brown, 381 U.S. at 446. The law at issue in Brown barred a member of the communist party from holding a union office. Id. at 439. The court ruled it was a bill of attainder because it signaled out a certain group of people and punished them for their affiliation. Id. at 461.

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