RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLERK'S OFFICE

5/31/2017 4:52 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

NO. 94443-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ISAAC ZAMORA,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

ROBERT A. ANTANAITIS Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 31071 Social & Health Services Division P.O. Box 40124 Olympia, WA 98504-0124 (360) 586-6565 OID No. 91021

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

V. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A petition for discretionary review by this Court must show that the Court of Appeals decision meets the factors in RAP 13.4(b), which provides:

(b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The issues raised by Mr. Zamora do not meet the requirements of RAP 13.4(b). The plea agreement claim is unique to the facts, and presents no significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the United States, or conflict that warrants this Court's

review. Similarly, the ex post facto, bill of attainder, and vagueness arguments are tied to RCW 10.77.200 and the facts of this case, and involve the well-settled application of those principles. Thus, there is no conflict or issue of substantial public interest that justifies this Court's review of those issues. In short, the Court of Appeals decision did not alter any of the legal protections currently enjoyed by defendants who enter into plea agreements, nor other legal protections, because the rulings rely on court precedent.

A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Found That There Was No Due Process Violation Because the Plea Agreement Was Not Violated

Mr. Zamora asks this Court to review whether the trial court violated his due process rights by ordering his release from DSHS custody. He claims the plea agreement guaranteed him a specific legal framework that would control all future determinations of when he would be eligible for discharge from DSHS custody under RCW 10.77.200. In particular, Mr. Zamora cites to the references in the plea agreement to RCW 10.77.120 and the *Sommerville* case as the basis for his position that the plea agreement guaranteed that he would only be released from DSHS custody when he was no longer dangerous to himself or others. Petition for Review at 9-10.

The Court of Appeals conclusion that there was no violation of the plea agreement does not warrant review under RAP 13.4(b). The court examined the terms of Mr. Zamora's plea agreement by utilizing contract law principals per this Court's decisions in State v. Chambers, 176 Wn.2d 573, 293 P.3d 1185 (2013), and State v. Turley, 149 Wn.2d 395, 69 P.3d 338 (2003). Looking only at objective manifestations of intent within the plea agreement, and not unexpressed subjective intent, the Court of Appeals found Mr. Zamora's argument was unsupported by the text of the plea agreement. State v. Zamora, No. 73008-8-I, slip op. at 17 (Mar. 6, 2017). The Court of Appeals found that the plea agreement stated that the parties understood that Mr. Zamora would be sent to Western State Hospital "until such time if any he is eligible for a conditional release and at that time he will be transferred [to] the Department of Corrections for the serving of his sentence." Id. at 18. It also found that the plea agreement did not address the length of time Mr. Zamora would remain at Western State Hospital or the specific criteria for discharge from DSHS custody and remand to DOC to serve his sentence. Id. at 19. Thus, the court applied this Court's governing principles. Mr. Zamora's argument merely claims that the Court of Appeals misapplied those principles, which is not an issue that warrants review.

Mr. Zamora claims that the references to *Sommerville* and RCW 10.77.120 within the plea agreement are themselves sufficient to show that the plea agreement was predicated on guaranteeing that he would remain in DSHS custody until he was no longer dangerous to himself or others. Petition for Review at 9. Again, applying existing law, the Court of Appeals correctly found that there was no support for interpreting these citations to create this additional obligation, one that would have tied the hands of future legislators to direct the responsibilities of DSHS and DOC.

The *Sommerville* reference concerns this Court's interpretation of RCW 10.77.220, which prohibits the incarceration of an individual committed under RCW 10.77 in a state correctional institution or facility. In *Sommerville*, the defendant had been found guilty of first degree rape, but NGRI of first degree murder. The trial court ordered the defendant to serve his sentence on the rape conviction before being placed with DSHS, but the Court overturned the order, ruling that RCW 10.77.220 first required placement in DSHS custody until final discharge to DOC to serve his sentence. *Sommerville*, 111 Wn.2d at 534-36.

The Court of Appeals determined that the references to Sommerville in Mr. Zamora's plea agreement only ensured that he would be committed to Western State Hospital before remand to DOC to serve his sentence, not that he would remain in DSHS custody until he was no longer dangerous to himself or others. *Zamora*, slip op. at 18. As this is exactly what occurred in Mr. Zamora's case, not only has the plea agreement not been violated, but Mr. Zamora's claim that this case conflicts with the *Sommerville* decision fails as well.

Similarly, the references to RCW 10.77.120 in the plea agreement were not a basis to find that there had been a breach. RCW 10.77.120 describes the legal obligation that DSHS has to care for insanity acquittees, and states that a person committed to DSHS as criminally insane shall not be released from the control of DSHS until after a hearing and court order of release. After noting that the plea agreement not only contained references to RCW 10.77.120, but that it also specifically required that Mr. Zamora have notice and an opportunity for a hearing prior to entry of an order of release from DSHS and remand to DOC, the Court of Appeals determined that the plea agreement had not been breached because there was no dispute that Mr. Zamora was provided notice and the opportunity to participate in the hearing on the DSHS petition for release. *Zamora*, slip op. at 19.

Mr. Zamora also asks this Court to consider whether the plea agreement was breached because he claims to have signed it with the expectation that the law would not change. Petition for Review at 5.

Again, the Court of Appeals rejection of this argument presents no issue that warrants review. The court simply followed its prior decision in *State v. McRae*, 96 Wn. App. 298, 305, 979 P.2d 911 (1999), along with *State v. Hennings*, 129 Wn.2d 512, 528, 919 P.2d 580 (1996), which held that a defendant is not entitled to rely on the expectation that the law in effect at the time of a plea agreement will not change, and that a vested right entitled to due process protection cannot be based merely upon an expectation that the existing law will continue. *Zamora*, slip op. at 18. Because Mr. Zamora's expectation that future changes in the law would not apply to him did not come from the language of the plea agreement, but instead came from his expectation that the law would not change, there was no breach of the plea agreement. *Id.*

Last, Mr. Zamora argues that this case raises an issue of substantial public interest because it "endorses post-plea changes to the governing law that fundamentally alter the expected punishment resulting from the negotiated settlement." Petition for Review at 3. However, this is a mischaracterization of the Court of Appeals decision because it does not overturn any prior precedent on construing a plea agreement, or limit any other defendant from relying on this prior precedent to challenge the actions of the State. Instead, the decision simply utilized prior precedent to determine that Mr. Zamora had failed to establish that his plea agreement

guaranteed that he would not be released from DSHS custody and remanded to DOC custody until he was no longer a danger to himself or others. And, to the extent that this Court would need to determine whether or not the terms of this particular plea agreement support Mr. Zamora's position, any further review would be limited to the specific facts of this case. As a result, the precedential value of the Court's decision would be extremely limited.

In short, the court order releasing Mr. Zamora did not breach the plea agreement, and his challenge on that basis does not warrant further appellate review by this Court.

B. The Amendment to RCW 10.77.200(3) Does Not Violate the Ex Post Facto and Bill of Attainder Clauses Because It Is Not Retroactive and Has No Punitive Effect on Mr. Zamora

Next, Mr. Zamora asks this Court to address his claim that the change to RCW 10.77.200(3) violates the ex post facto clause and the prohibition against bills of attainder. He argues that the "state of the law" changed after his criminal case was decided in a way that imposed a more severe punishment on him than was permissible when the crimes were committed and undermined the settled expectations of his plea agreement. Petition for Review at 16. The Court of Appeals disagreed with this interpretation of the change in RCW 10.77.200(3), and held that there was no constitutional violation because the statute is procedural in nature, did

not inflict punishment, and did not apply retroactively. *Zamora*, slip op. at 22. This ruling reflects a straightforward application of existing law and does not present a conflict or significant question requiring this Court's review.

In order to bring a successful ex post facto claim, Mr. Zamora needed to show that the law operates retroactively, and that it increases the penalty over what it was at the time of the conduct. *In re Pers. Restraint of Flint*, 174 Wn.2d 539, 545, 277 P.3d 657 (2012). But, as the Court of Appeals noted in its decision, under the *Flint* case a statute does not operate retroactively merely because the triggering event originates in a situation that existed before the statute was enacted, and a statute does not operate retrospectively just because it upsets expectations based on prior law. *Zamora*, slip op. at 21-22.

The Court of Appeals found that the amendment to the release criteria in RCW 10.77.200(3) operates prospectively, because the triggering event for its operation was the filing of the petition for release from DSHS custody and remand to DOC custody, not the entry of Mr. Zamora's underlying NGRI commitment order. *Zamora*, slip op. at 22. Since the petition for release in this case was filed by DSHS after the effective date of the statute, the amendment was not retroactively applied.

This ruling is consistent with the plain language of the statute and the ruling in *Flint* providing guidance on how to detect a retroactive law.

To claim that RCW 10.77.200(3) was retroactively applied to him, Mr. Zamora claimed a right to have the old version of the statute apply to him under the plea agreement. Petition for Review at 15. However, the Court of Appeals found that the settlement agreement contained no such guarantee. *Zamora*, slip op. at 18-19. Thus, this is a straightforward application of the rule that a statute does not operate retroactively just because it upsets expectations based on prior law. *Flint*, 174 Wn.2d at 547.

This Court may also decline review because Mr. Zamora cannot show that the amendment to RCW 10.77.200(3) increased his criminal punishment. Citing *Miller v. Florida*, 482 U.S. 423, 107 S. Ct. 2446, 96 L. Ed. 351 (1987), the Court of Appeals explained that an ex post facto violation cannot occur if the change in the law is merely procedural and does not increase a punishment or change the ingredients of the offence or the ultimate facts necessary to establish guilt. *Zamora*, slip op. at 20. The change to RCW 10.77.200(3) is civil in nature, and did not create a punishment for an act that was not already punishable at the time it was committed. In 2008, the act of premeditated murder was already a crime subject to punishment, and the change to RCW 10.77.200(3) did not increase the punishment for it—it was and still is life in prison.

RCW 9A.32.030, 040. As a result, the Court of Appeals found that RCW 10.77.200(3) is procedural and does not inflict punishment. *Zamora*, slip op. at 22.

The finding that RCW 10.77.200(3) does not inflict punishment is also the reason why it cannot be a bill of attainder. Citing to this Court's decision in *Hennings*, the Court of Appeals stated that a legislative act violates the prohibition against bills of attainder if it inflicts punishment on an individual or group without judicial trial. *Zamora*, slip op. at 21. But RCW 10.77.200(3) does not inflict punishment, so it cannot be a bill of attainder. However, even if the Court of Appeals had found that RCW 10.77.200(3) inflicted punishment, it still could not be a bill of attainder because Mr. Zamora continued to have the right to a judicial proceeding to determine whether or not he should be released from DSHS custody. Providing for a judicial proceeding prevents RCW 10.77.200(3) from violating the prohibition on bills of attainder.

C. RCW 10.77.200(3) Is Not Impermissibly Vague Because the Ordinary Meaning of "Manageable" Is Capable of Being Applied To the Phrase "Person's Mental Disease or Defect Is Manageable Within a State Correctional Institution or Facility"

Last, Mr. Zamora asks this Court to address whether the term "manageable" in RCW 10.77.200(3) is unconstitutionally vague. Petition for Review at 17-20. The specific language at issue states that insanity

acquittees who will be transferred to a state correctional institution or facility because they will be serving a sentence for a class A felony following their release from DSHS custody are to be released if it is shown that "the person's mental disease or defect is manageable within a state correctional institution or facility." RCW 10.77.200(3).

The Court of Appeals properly placed the burden of showing that the statute is unconstitutionally vague beyond a reasonable doubt on Mr. Zamora, citing this Court's decisions in *In re Detention of M.W.*, 185 Wn.2d 633, 374 P.3d. 1123 (2016), *State v. Bahl*, 164 Wn.2d 739, 193 P.3d 678 (2008), and *State v. Watson*, 160 Wn.2d 1, 154 P.3d 909 (2007). Next, the Court of Appeals clarified that RCW 10.77.200(3) had to be examined as applied to the particular facts of the case, as opposed to being reviewed on its face. *Zamora*, slip op. at 23 (citing *Maynard v. Cartwright*, 486 U.S. 356, 108 S. Ct. 1853, 100 L. Ed. 2d 372 (1988) and *City of Spokane v. Douglass*, 115 Wn.2d 171, 795 P.2d 693 (1990)).

Given this criteria, the Court of Appeals found that Mr. Zamora had failed to meet his burden of proving that RCW 10.77.200(3) was unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt. *Zamora*, slip op. at 23. It determined that the term "manageable" was not incapable of definition, and that a court could rely on the ordinary meaning of the word as stated in a dictionary, citing *State v. Klein*, 156 Wn.2d 102, 124 P.3d 644 (2005).

Zamora, slip op. at 23. Finally, the Court of Appeals upheld the trial court's use of the definition of "manageable" from Webster's Third New International Dictionary ("capable of being managed: submitting to control") as sufficient for being able to determine the question of fact in this case (whether Mr. Zamora's mental disease or defect is manageable under RCW 10.77.200(3)). Zamora, slip op. at 23.

This decision is supported by how the definition was applied in this particular case. In order to establish DOC's ability to control Mr. Zamora's mental illness, DSHS presented the testimony of several mental health professionals familiar with Mr. Zamora and the level of treatment available at DOC, treatment that he had been receiving for the last 20 months. They all testified that "the Department of Corrections can handle Mr. Zamora, and that they handle other people even worse than Mr. Zamora, for lack of a better term." Report of Proceedings (RP) (Sept. 10, 2014) at 85. They also testified that "DOC is currently treating and managing many persons such as Mr. Zamora," and that while Mr. Zamora has been at DOC, "he's not been a management problem." *Id.* at 85-86 (see also RP (Sept. 8, 2014) at 41, 53-55; RP (Sept. 9, 2014) at 56-57, 100-01).

Rather than attempting to demonstrate how the statute was inappropriately applied in this particular case, Mr. Zamora argues that the

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